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 ERIN HENDERSON’S REPLY TO THE  
NRC STAFF ANSWER TO HER REQUEST FOR HEARING 

Pursuant to the Secretary’s September 29, 2020 Order1 establishing a briefing schedule in 

this matter, Erin Henderson files her reply the NRC Staff Answer2 to her Request for a Hearing.3  

For the reasons set forth below, and in Ms. Henderson’s Request, the Commission should grant 

Ms. Henderson a hearing in this proceeding.  In the alternative, given the new, untenable position 

that the Staff takes in the Answer, (as also set forth below) the Commission should exercise its 

inherent supervisory authority over the Staff and direct the Staff to withdraw Ms. Henderson’s 

Notice of Violation, with prejudice. 

I. The Staff Has Abandoned the Claim that Ms. Henderson Engaged in Deliberate 
Misconduct Under 10 C.F.R. § 50.5. 

The NRC Staff’s Answer to Ms. Henderson’s Request for Hearing lays bare why the 

Commission should at a minimum grant her hearing request, or exercise its inherent supervisory 

 
1 Secretary, Order, IA-20-009-EA (Sept. 29, 2020) (ADAMS Accession No. ML20273A329).  
2 NRC Staff’s Answer to Erin Henderson’s Request for Hearing, IA-20-009-EA (Oct. 8, 2020) (ADAMS Accession 

No. ML20282A792).  
3 Erin Henderson’s Request for a Hearing, IA-20-009-EA (Sept. 13, 2020) (ADAMS Accession No. 

ML20259A299). 
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authority over the Staff and direct the Staff to withdraw the Notice of Violation with prejudice.  

In her Request for a Hearing, Ms. Henderson set forth the many ways in which the Staff failed to 

follow existing Commission precedent regarding the scope of adverse actions, the requirements 

to show deliberate misconduct and intent, the issuance of violations to non-licensed individuals, 

and other topics.4  The Staff did not even respond to these arguments regarding its unilateral and 

illegal changes in policy.  Instead, in its Answer the Staff abandoned all pretense that 

Ms. Henderson engaged in deliberate misconduct under 10 C.F.R. § 50.5, deviating from the 

Notice of Violation issued in this case.   

The Staff now claims that Ms. Henderson violated 10 C.F.R. § 50.7.5  While this neatly 

avoids Ms. Henderson’s concerns regarding the improper (and likely void) application of 10 

C.F.R. § 50.5 to her case, it is a surprise (to say the least).  It is well known and well understood 

that “[i]ndividual managers are not subject to enforcement sanctions for 10 CFR 50.7 

violations”6 and “[i]ndividuals are held accountable only in situations where they deliberately 

engage in misconduct, which causes the licensee to be in violation of an NRC rule or 

regulation.”7  The Staff’s assertion otherwise is also contrary to explicit Commission statements 

that unlicensed individuals (such as Ms. Henderson) are subject to enforcement action only in 

cases of deliberate misconduct.8   

The record makes clear that Ms. Henderson’s case is about deliberate misconduct under 

Section 50.5, and the Commission should not permit the Staff’s attempt at a bait-and-switch.  On 

 
4 Request for a Hearing at 29-35; 38-42. 
5 Answer at 1. See also Answer at 8. 
6 Discrimination Task Group Report, “Policy Options and Recommendations for Revising the NRC’s Process for 

Handling Discrimination Issues” at 58 (April 2002) (“Discrimination Task Group Report”) (ADAMS Accession 
No. ML022120514).  

7 Discrimination Task Group Report at 73.  
8 Revisions to Procedures to Issue Orders; Deliberate Misconduct by Unlicensed Persons, 56 Fed. Reg. 40,664, 

40,670, 40,675 (1991). 
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March 2, 2020, the Staff issued to Ms. Henderson a Notice of Apparent Violation (NOAV) in 

this case for violating 10 C.F.R. Section 50.5, which the Staff said put TVA in violation of 10 

C.F.R. Section 50.7.  The NOAV states:  “on March 9, 2018, you engaged in deliberate 

misconduct [a 10 CFR § 50.5 violation] that caused Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), an NRC 

licensee, to discriminate [a 10 CFR § 50.7 violation] against a former Sequoyah employee and a 

former corporate employee for engaging in protected activities, ‘Employee Protection.’”9   

Following Ms. Henderson’s pre-decisional enforcement conference in June 2020, the 

Staff issued Ms. Henderson a Notice of Violation similarly stating that Ms. Henderson’s 

“deliberate actions placed TVA in violation of 10 CFR 50.7, ‘Employee Protection,’ and 

[herself] in violation of 10 CFR 50.5, ‘Deliberate Misconduct,’”10 and reiterated that 

Ms. Henderson violated Section 50.5: “on March 9, 2018, you engaged in deliberate misconduct 

[a 10 CFR § 50.5 violation] that caused the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), an NRC 

licensee, to engage in discrimination [a 10 CFR § 50.7 violation] against a former Sequoyah 

employee and a former corporate employee for engaging in protected activities.”11   

In her Request for a Hearing, Ms. Henderson raised a number of concerns with this NOV.  

Ms. Henderson explained that, based on past Staff practice she could not have known that the 

Staff would find deliberate misconduct and issue her an NOV for the content of her harassment 

complaint.12  Ms. Henderson explained that considering her harassment complaint as an adverse 

action is new, and inconsistent with NRC guidance.13  She also explained that the Staff lacked a 

 
9 Letter to Erin Henderson re: Nuclear Regulatory Commission Office of Investigations Report Nos. 2-2018-033 and 

2-2019-015 (Mar. 2, 2020) (hereinafter the “Notice of Apparent Violation” or “NOAV”). 
10 Letter to Erin Henderson re: Notice of Violation to Ms. Erin Henderson, Nuclear Regulatory Office of 

Investigations Report Nos. 2-2018-033 and 2-2019-015 (Aug. 24, 2020) (“NOV Cover Letter”). 
11 Notice of Violation to Ms. Erin Henderson, Nuclear Regulatory Office of Investigations Report Nos. 2-2018-033 

and 2-2019-015 (Aug. 24, 2020) (“NOV” or “Violation”).  
12 Request for a Hearing at 31. 
13 Id. at 32-33.  
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causal link between Ms. Henderson’s complaint and any real adverse action.14  And she 

explained that the Staff’s application of deliberate misconduct here is contrary to the 

Commission’s rules and a significant, unauthorized expansion of the Staff’s authority.15  

Ms. Henderson added that this incomprehensible use of the deliberate misconduct rule 

(disregarding intent and knowledge and applying it to an individual’s concern) would have a 

chilling effect throughout the industry.16  Ms. Henderson even explained that the Staff’s action 

was contrary to the NRC’s own published Safety Culture Traits.17  These arguments have gone 

unanswered, even though they merit granting a hearing in this proceeding on their own. 

In response, the Staff changed Ms. Henderson’s violation.18  

The Staff is now claiming, for the first time in this proceeding, that Ms. Henderson 

violated Section 50.7.  According to its Answer,“[t]he NRC Staff issued Ms. Henderson a NOV 

based on her violation of employee protection regulations found in 10 C.F.R. § 50.7.”19  Indeed, 

the Answer never even mentions Section 50.5, and only once (in the Background section) 

mentions deliberate misconduct.  This is not without consequence.  Even if it were possible to 

cite an individual manager for violating Section 50.7 (it is not), permitting the Staff to switch the 

alleged violation from one under Section 50.5 to one under Section 50.7 would unjustly allow 

the Staff to change a violation at will, and would allow it to lower the bar for Ms. Henderson’s 

 
14 Id. at 40. 
15 Id. at 31-32, 38-39. 
16 Id. at 30, 34. 
17 Id. at 32. 
18 The Staff’s abrupt change in tactics necessitates a greater focus on 10 C.F.R. § 50.7 in this Reply than in 

Ms. Henderson’s Request for a Hearing.  However, this change in focus does not eliminate or reduce the due 
process, void for vagueness, and arbitrary and capricious issues identified in Ms. Henderson’s Request for a 
Hearing.  If anything, this change in tactics and the Staff’s failure to respond to Ms. Henderson’s initial 
arguments only emphasizes the Staff’s arbitrary actions in this case.  

19 Answer at 1 (emphasis and bold added). 
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violation so completely that the Staff would no longer have to demonstrate deliberate 

misconduct.    

Perhaps the Staff now recognizes that the facts of Ms. Henderson’s case do not show that 

she engaged in deliberate misconduct by filing a complaint.  This tactic is consistent with what 

the Staff has attempted to do in Mr. Shea’s parallel proceeding,20 where it is likewise seeking 

refuge in the burden-shifting standard of 10 C.F.R. § 50.7 instead of demonstrating actual 

deliberate misconduct.  But such recognition means that the Staff should withdraw 

Ms. Henderson’s Violation, not argue that a different violation occurred altogether.   

The Commission should not permit the Staff to change Ms. Henderson’s Violation 

midstream.  As the Commission has stated, “[b]asic principles of fairness likewise require that 

the licensee in an enforcement action know the bases underlying the Staff’s finding(s) of 

violation.”21  Furthermore,  

This principle regarding notice of, and opportunity to comment on, the 
fundamental bases for an enforcement action is analogous to our policy in 
licensing adjudications that “[a]n intervenor may not freely change the focus of an 
admitted contention at will as litigation progresses, but is bound by the terms of 
the contention.”  It is likewise akin to our “longstanding practice” in licensing 
cases “requir[ing] adjudicatory boards to adhere to the terms of admitted 

 
20 See NRC Staff Answer to [Shea] Motion to Set Aside the Immediate Effectiveness of the Order and Answer to the 

Request for a Hearing, IA-20-008 at 11-12 (Sept. 28, 2020) (“NRC Answer to Shea”) (claiming that Mr. Shea 
violated Section 50.7 using the burden-shifting standard of Section 50.7 and that “[r]etaliation in violation of 10 
C.F.R. § 50.7 is, by its nature, an intentional act.”).  

21 Tennessee Valley Authority (Watts Bar Nuclear Plant, Unit 1; Sequoyah Nuclear Plant, Units 1 and 2; Browns 
Ferry Nuclear Plant, Units 1, 2, and 3) (“TVA”), CLI-04-24, 60 NRC 160, 202 (2004).  The Staff may argue that, 
factually, TVA is not precisely identical to Ms. Henderson’s case.  That is true.  In TVA, the Staff was only 
attempting to change the basis of its violation by adding new protected activities.  Here, the Staff is changing the 
entire underlying theory of its case by asserting Ms. Henderson violated a different regulation.  Regardless, it is 
still clear that the Commission in TVA would also have rejected the Staff’s actions in this case, considering it 
rejected even lesser changes: 

We disagree with the Staff. Its proposed rule of thumb would allow the Staff virtually unfettered 
freedom to change the focus of an adjudication under section 50.7 or its sister regulations, subject 
only to the restriction that the case still involve violations of the salient whistleblower regulation. 
Such a restriction is, in our view, so broad as to be virtually meaningless, would leave the scope of 
an enforcement proceeding uncertain throughout the entire prehearing phase of an adjudication, 
and would undermine our twin goals of fairness and efficiency in adjudicatory decisionmaking.   

Id. at 204 (emphasis added). 
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contentions in order to give opposing parties advance notice of claims and a 
reasonable opportunity to rebut them.”22  

Inconsistent with these “basic principles of fairness,” Ms. Henderson had no notice that the 

Staff’s enforcement action was based on Ms. Henderson’s now alleged violation of 10 C.F.R. 

§ 50.7.  For this reason alone, the Commission should exercise its inherent supervisory authority 

over the Staff and direct the Staff to withdraw the NOV with prejudice and terminate this 

proceeding.   

Even if the Commission does not direct the Staff to withdraw the NOV, the Answer also 

demonstrates why Ms. Henderson should be (at a minimum) granted a hearing:  the Staff has not 

even disputed the concerns raised in Ms. Henderson’s initial Request for a Hearing and the 

shifting basis of Ms. Henderson’s NOV further deprives her of due process.  Ms. Henderson had 

no notice that she was personally being charged with a Section 50.7 violation (in contravention 

of Commission regulations), so she could not possibly have had an opportunity to defend herself 

against it.   

II. Whether the NRC Regulations Grant an Automatic Right to an Adjudicatory 
Hearing Is Irrelevant to this Case.  

Setting aside issues regarding the Answer’s attempt to change Ms. Henderson’s violation, 

the Answer first argues, in essence, that Ms. Henderson should not be granted a hearing because 

the Commission has previously declined to grant NOV recipients a hearing as a matter of right.23  

This argument is irrelevant to the case at hand.  Ms. Henderson is not claiming a hearing as a 

matter of right under the Commission regulations.  However, the regulations also do not prohibit 

Ms. Henderson from having a hearing, and the NRC’s Enforcement Manual contemplates the 

opportunity for a hearing in cases such as this:  for unique circumstances, such as cases of public 

 
22 TVA, CLI-04-24, 60 NRC at 202-03 (internal citations omitted).  
23 See Answer at 2-4. 
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or regulatory interest, and for enforcement actions impacting individuals.24  According to that 

manual, “Enforcement actions that offer an opportunity for a hearing include orders, CPs, actions 

involving individuals, and other cases of public or regulatory interest.”25   

Indeed, Ms. Henderson’s Request for a Hearing regarding her Section 50.5 violation 

applies only to the unique and untenable situation in her case, where the Staff has issued her a 

violation that (1) does not comport with Commission precedent and rules; and (2) deprives her of 

both a reputational and a liberty interest, requiring greater due process.  In addition, regardless of 

its prior rulemakings, and as set forth in more detail below, more recent Supreme Court 

precedent requires the Commission to provide Ms. Henderson with due process under the given 

circumstances.    

The Answer states that the NRC’s “Discrimination Task Group did not recommend 

extending hearing opportunities to NOVs, that the Senior Management Review Team agreed, 

and that the Commission did not further pursue this issue.” 26  According to the Answer, the 

Discrimination Task Group was reluctant to engage in “[a] rulemaking and a myriad of process 

changes” or to consider automatic hearing rights for other violations. 27  In addition, the Group 

was concerned about the “expansion of hearing rights [having] significant resource implications 

for the NRC.” 28  However, these broad policy considerations are inapplicable here.  Nothing in 

the regulations prohibits the Commission from granting a hearing under the specific 

 
24 See NRC Enforcement Manual, Rev. 11 at 15, 312 (Oct. 1, 2019) (Accession No. ML19274C228) (“Persons 

adversely affected by orders that modify, suspend, revoke a license, or that take other action, may request a 
hearing.”; “When the NRC takes an enforcement action against a licensee because of an individual employee’s 
action, and that enforcement action may affect the employment of the individual, the individual may have rights 
to a hearing.”) (emphasis added).  See also Enforcement Manual, Rev. 11 at 211 (referring to a Severity Level II 
Violation as an Escalated Enforcement Action). 

25 Id. at 63. 
26 Answer at 4. 
27 Answer at 3. 
28 Answer at 3. 
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circumstances of Ms. Henderson’s case, where, as described in the Enforcement Manual, there is 

an “action[ ] involving an individual,” where there is an impact to her reputational and liberty 

interests, and where a “public or regulatory interest” is at stake because the Staff has violated its 

own guidance and precedent.  Nor would granting a hearing here generate hearings on every 

NOV.    

III. The Staff Incorrectly Interprets the Due Process Rights Implicated by the Notice of 
Violation.  

As set forth in this Section III, the Staff’s Answer also incorrectly interprets the due 

process implications of Ms. Henderson’s NOV.  The Answer 1) ignores that Ms. Henderson’s 

reputational injury is coupled with a deprivation of a liberty interest, and 2) ignores that the 

Staff’s retroactive change in policy results in a void for vague application of the Commission’s 

rules.   

A. The Staff Ignores Ms. Henderson’s Reputational Injury Is Coupled with a 
Deprivation of a Liberty Interest.  

As the Answer states, “[a] ‘reputational’ injury is not sufficient to infringe upon a 

constitutionally recognized liberty or property interest,”29 and “reputation alone does not 

implicate any liberty or property interests sufficient to invoke the procedural protection of the 

due process clause.”30  However, Ms. Henderson’s case is not one of a reputational injury by 

itself, and the courts have long recognized a due process right when reputational injury is 

coupled with another harm.31  Indeed, a reputational injury coupled with the potential for 

 
29 Answer at 4-5 (citation omitted). 
30 Answer at 5 (citation omitted). 
31 Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693 (1976), cited in the Staff’s Answer, explains the various cases where a reputational 

right coupled with an additional right implicated due process.  Indeed, the Paul v. Davis analysis is called the 
“stigma-plus” standard.  See, e.g., Valmonte v. Bane, 18 F.3d 992 (2d Cir. 1994) (“We have previously interpreted 
[Paul v. Davis] to mean that ‘stigma plus’ is required to establish a constitutional deprivation.”); Cannon v. City 
of West Palm Beach, 250 F.3d 1299, 1302 (11th Cir. 2001) (“The Court established [in Paul v. Davis] what has 
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escalating future violations based on the present violation, or the enforcement of vague 

regulations (a constitutional violation in and of itself32), requires additional procedural 

protections.  Both of those additional justifications exist in this case and were set forth in detail 

in Ms. Henderson’s Request for a Hearing.33  Both were ignored by the Staff.34   

While the Answer focuses on a reputational injury alone, that is different than a 

reputational injury plus a legal consequence, as argued by Ms. Henderson.  The Answer quotes 

Paul v. Davis as the seminal case supporting its point, but Paul v. Davis clearly distinguishes 

cases (such as Wisconsin v. Constantineau, 400 U. S. 433 (1971)) that involve reputational injury 

plus a change in legal status.  Indeed, the Supreme Court addressed Constantineau wherein it had 

previously found that “[w]here a person’s good name, reputation, honor, or integrity is at stake 

because of what the government is doing to him, notice and an opportunity to be heard are 

essential.”35  As the Court distinguished it in Paul v. Davis, Constantineau found that due 

process was required because the harm at issue in that case involved a stigma or reputational 

injury plus a liberty interest (i.e., a change in legal status).36  

As Ms. Henderson argued in her Request for a Hearing, FCC v. Fox, 567 U.S. 239 (2012) 

(which was issued by the U.S. Supreme Court long after the Paul v. Davis case on which the 

 
come to be known as the ‘stigma-plus’ test.”); Moore v. Otero, 557 F.2d 435 (5th Cir. 1977) (“To establish a 
liberty interest sufficient to implicate fourteenth amendment safeguards, the individual must be not only 
stigmatized but also stigmatized in connection with a denial of a right or status previously recognized under state 
law. [Citing Paul v. Davis.] Under this ‘stigma-plus’ test . . . .”). 

32 See Federal Communications Commission v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 567 U.S. 239, 255 (2012).  
33 Request for a Hearing at 26 (“Such a ‘legal consequence’ combined with ‘reputational injury’ provides further 

reason for granting relief.”). 
34 See generally Answer. 
35 Paul, 424 U.S. at 708 (citing Constantineau, 400 U. S. at 437). 
36 Paul, 424 U.S. at 708-09.   
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Answer primarily relies) also recognizes the right to procedural safeguards when there is an 

“alteration of legal status . . . combined with the injury resulting from the defamation.”37   

Ms. Henderson’s NOV clearly states that Ms. Henderson “should be aware that if [she is] 

involved in NRC-licensed activities in the future, additional deliberate violations could result in 

more significant enforcement action or criminal penalties.”38  This is nearly identical to the 

“alteration of legal status” or “legal consequence”39 that the Supreme Court found present in 

Fox, which (in that case) was the FCC’s “statutory power to take into account ‘any history of 

prior offenses’ when setting the level of a [future] forfeiture penalty.”40  Moreover, the “future” 

or theoretical (and future) nature of the consequence was irrelevant to the Fox Court’s analysis.  

Even when the FCC promised that it would “not consider the indecent broadcasts either when 

considering whether to renew stations’ licenses or ‘in any other context,’”41 the Court was 

unwilling to leave Fox “at the mercy of noblesse oblige.”42  As the Court stated, “the 

Government’s assurance it will elect not to [consider the violation in future actions] is 

insufficient to remedy the constitutional violation.”43  The Staff’s Answer simply ignores this 

critical similarity between Ms. Henderson’s case and Fox, when it argues that reputational injury 

alone is not enough to implicate due process rights.44   

 
37 Fox, 567 U.S. at 255-56 (citing Paul, 424 U.S. at 708-09); Request for a Hearing at n.96.  
38 NOV Cover Letter at 2. 
39 Fox, 567 U.S. at 255-56 (citing Paul, 424 U.S. at 708-709). 
40 Id. at 255. 
41 Id. 
42 Id. 
43 Id. 
44 The Staff attempts to distinguish Fox by claiming that the procedural safeguards at issue were “the reversal of an 

order” versus “the right of judicial review.”  Answer at 5-6.  However, this is a distinction without a difference.  
The “order” in Fox imposed the same harm as the NOV in Ms. Henderson’s case: no monetary penalty with a 
reputational impact and an alteration of legal status.  In addition, the remedy in the Fox case, “the reversal of an 
order,” is a remedy that cannot be achieved by Ms. Henderson until there is intervention through judicial review.     
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B. The Staff Ignores that Its Retroactive Change in Policy, as Described in Ms. 
Henderson’s Request for a Hearing, Results in a Void for Vague Application 
of the Commission’s Rules. 

It is also clear from the Fox decision that Ms. Henderson has a constitutionally protected 

interest in the Staff’s improper and vague application of the deliberate misconduct rule to her 

filing of a harassment complaint.  In fact, the Answer’s own analysis of Fox demonstrates that 

point.  As the Answer states: 

The FCC then changed its policy to prohibit even fleeting indecency and applied 
this policy retroactively to the Fox and ABC broadcasts.  The FCC issued orders 
to both Fox and ABC finding the broadcasts indecent, but, acknowledging the 
change in policy, the FCC did not propose a forfeiture (e.g., a civil penalty).  The 
Court held that the change in policy, as applied retroactively to Fox and ABC, 
violated due process, especially because it was a regulation of speech.  The FCC 
attempted to argue that because it did not impose a sanction, its retroactive change 
in policy should not be grounds for reversal.  It was in this context that the Court 
used the language quoted by Ms. Henderson and stated that the FCC orders, even 
without a sanction, could still cause reputational injury and allow future violations 
to result in increased penalties.45 

Thus, pursuant to Fox, a retroactive change in policy violates due process.46   

There is no question that the Staff in this case is effectuating a “change in policy . . . 

applied retroactively”47 to Ms. Henderson.  As set forth in Ms. Henderson’s Hearing Request, the 

 
45 Answer at 5-6 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). 
46 See Fox, 567 U.S. at 255-56 (“when combined with the legal consequence described above, reputational injury 

provides further reason for granting relief to Fox. Cf. Paul v. Davis, 424 U. S. 693 –709 (1976) (explaining that 
an ‘alteration of legal status . . . combined with the injury resulting from the defamation’ justifies the invocation 
of procedural safeguards)”).  

47 Answer at 6. 
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Staff in the NOV found for the first time that filing a harassment complaint48 (that was later 

substantiated)49 against demonstrably bad actors50 can be deliberate misconduct.   

In addition, as also described in the Request for a Hearing, the NOV made no attempt to 

show the “intent” and “knowledge” that has always been required to demonstrate deliberate 

misconduct.  The Staff ignored its own deliberate misconduct rule, which requires “an 

intentional act or omission that the person knows” would cause a violation.51  That rule explains 

that an individual who engages in deliberate misconduct “has the requisite intent to act in a 

wrongful manner such that application of enforcement sanctions may be warranted.”52  The Staff 

even ignored the fact that the Discrimination Task Group report emphasizes the high bar that 

must be met to show deliberate misconduct.  According to that report, “Deliberate misconduct, 

which is based on an individual’s knowledge of the regulations and intent[,] is very difficult to 

prove.”53  At no time has the Staff demonstrated that Ms. Henderson’s harassment complaint, 

which she filed in an effort to escape the negative actions detailed at length in her Request for a 

 
48 See Request for a Hearing at 19-24.  The NRC Staff also attempts to distinguish Fox from this case because the 

FCC was regulating speech; however, the Staff does not even attempt to explain how Ms. Henderson’s 
harassment complaint is not subject to the same protections.   

49 See Request for a Hearing at 22-24. 
50 See, e.g., Request for a Hearing at 2 (describing the latest text messages sent by the former Sequoyah employee); 

Labor Department rules TVA cooked up cause to fire nuclear whistleblower, KNOXVILLE NEWS SENTINEL (Jan. 3, 
2020) (including demonstrably false claims spread by the former Corporate employee that Ms. Henderson “had ‘a 
remarkably fast promotion trajectory’ in part because her father was a ‘good friend’ of a TVA executive.”), 
available at https://www.knoxnews.com/story/news/crime/2020/01/03/labor-department-tva-cooked-up-cause-
fire-nuclear-whistleblower/2794793001/.  

51 10 C.F.R. § 50.5(c) (emphasis added). 
52 56 Fed. Reg. at 40,679 (emphasis added).  See also id. at 40,670 (“If a person with the requisite knowledge 

intentionally acts in a way that causes, or that, but for detection, would have caused, a licensee to be in violation 
of an NRC requirement, that person is now on notice that he or she may be subject to individual enforcement 
action.”). 

53 Discrimination Task Group Report at 58. 
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Hearing,54 could possibly constitute “an intentional act or omission that the person knows” would 

cause a violation.55     

Moreover, the Staff’s new, revised theory of the case in the Answer fares no better.  A 

review of the Discrimination Task Group report (and numerous other guidance materials and 

rules such as the NRC Enforcement Manual56) plainly illustrates how the Staff in the Answer is 

changing its policies and applying an inapplicable regulation, and therefore the wrong 

evidentiary standard, to Ms. Henderson.  As the Task Group Report explains, “Individual 

managers are not subject to enforcement sanctions for 10 CFR 50.7 violations.  Criminal and 

NRC enforcement sanctions against managers for deliberate violations of 10 CFR 50.7 are taken 

under the deliberate misconduct rule (e.g.,10 CFR 50.5).”57  Yet, the Answer alleges a Section 

50.7 violation against an “individual manager” – Ms. Henderson.   

In fact, the Task Group specifically declined a recommendation to “allow taking action 

against individuals for a violation of the discrimination regulations,” and stated that it would 

“require rulemaking to implement.”58  This left in place the requirement to demonstrate that 

individuals engaged in deliberate misconduct.  Nevertheless, the Staff in Ms. Henderson’s case 

has not “expend[ed] significant resources evaluating the evidence to determine if a deliberate 

 
54 Request for a Hearing at 10-19. 
55 10 C.F.R. § 50.5(c) (emphasis added). 
56 See, e.g., Enforcement Manual, Rev. 11 at 17 (“Actions can be taken directly against individuals either because 

they are individually licensed or because they violated the rules on deliberate misconduct.”).  Policy and 
Procedure for Enforcement Actions; Deliberate Misconduct Rule, 63 Fed. Reg. 1982, 1984 (1998) (“If the actions 
described in these examples are taken by a licensed operator or taken deliberately by an unlicensed individual, 
enforcement action may be taken directly against the individual.  However, violations involving willful conduct 
not amounting to deliberate action by an unlicensed individual in these situations may result in enforcement 
action against a licensee that may impact an individual.”) (emphasis added).  

57 Discrimination Task Group Report at 58. 
58 Discrimination Task Group Report at 73. 
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violation of NRC regulations occurred,” as contemplated by the Task Group.59  Instead, as is 

now apparent from the Answer, the Staff is changing policy retroactively.   

Accordingly, at a minimum Ms. Henderson is entitled to a hearing because the Staff’s 

application of its regulations, both in its NOV and in its Answer, is void for vagueness.  

C. The Staff’s Due Process Arguments Relating to Larche and Ford Motor Are 
Irrelevant. 

The Answer also spends a significant amount of energy distinguishing Hannah v. Larche, 

363 U.S. 420 (1960), and Adams v. Ford Motor Co., 653 F.3d 299 (3d Cir. 2011), both of which 

Ms. Henderson’s briefly quoted in her Request for a Hearing.  The Answer claims Ms. 

Henderson is misrepresenting the facts.  This is nothing more than a diversion.   

First, at issue in Larche was whether the Commission on Civil Rights’ rules governing its 

investigations were unconstitutional.60  The Supreme Court detailed the amorphous boundaries 

of due process rights within various bodies of government and at various stages of investigation 

and adjudication.61  Then, the Supreme Court held that the rules there did not violate the Due 

Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment specifically because the Civil Rights Commission served 

only a fact-finding purpose.62   

Ms. Henderson accurately cited Larche to describe that due process rights are not clearly 

defined; rather “its exact boundaries are undefinable, and its content varies according to specific 

factual contexts.”63  Ms. Henderson did not rely on or represent the facts of Larche at all.64  She 

 
59  Discrimination Task Group Report at 64.  
60 363 U.S. at 422-23.  
61 Id. at 442-50.  
62 Id. at 440-53.  
63 Request for a Hearing at 24-25 (quoting Larche, 363 U.S. at 442). 
64 In addition to differences in the agencies and authorities at issue, the Larche Court found support for the 

procedures at issue in a congressional act.  Larche, 363 U.S. at 436-38.  The same cannot be said of Ms. 
Henderson’s right to a hearing, which does not involve “express authorization by Congress or the President.”  Id. 

 



15 
4832-8618-2094.v6 

properly cited it for the broad proposition that due process is very fact-specific.  But since the 

Answer focuses much attention on that case, Ms. Henderson notes that in Larche, the agency in 

question, unlike the NRC, had only a limited authority to engage in investigations and was not 

issuing violations or orders.  Indeed, the Supreme Court specifically noted the limited authority 

of the Commission on Civil Rights in its decision: 

As is apparent from this brief sketch of the statutory duties imposed upon the 
Commission, its function is purely investigative and fact-finding. . . It does not 
make determinations depriving anyone of his life, liberty, or property. In short, 
the Commission does not and cannot take any affirmative action which will affect 
an individual’s legal rights. The only purpose of its existence is to find facts 
which may subsequently be used as the basis for legislative or executive action. 65 

This is unlike Ms. Henderson’s case, where the NRC Staff has taken an “affirmative action” and 

issued Ms. Henderson’s NOV, impacting her reputational and liberty interest.66   

Second, the Staff misconstrues the reason for which Ms. Henderson cited Adams v. Ford 

Motor Co.  Ms. Henderson did not imply that the Third Circuit found that the attorney in Adams 

had a right to a judicial hearing.  Rather, Ms. Henderson cited the case to support the proposition 

that circuit courts have “held that public reprimands of misconduct, including reprimands 

without monetary sanction, violate due process rights if an opportunity to be heard is not 

provided.”67  There is no nefarious scheme to twist the language of the case; this proposition is 

 
at 438-39 (“We have no doubt that Congress’ consideration and rejection of the procedures here at issue 
constituted an authorization to the Commission to conduct its hearings according to the Rules of Procedure it has 
adopted, and to deny to witnesses the rights of apprisal, confrontation, and cross-examination.”). 

65 Larche, 363 U.S. at 441-42 (emphasis added).  In fact, the litigation in Larche arose from individuals refusing to 
participate in the investigation without further information, not the issuance of a violation or any other action 
against an individual.  Id. at 421-25. 

66 In Larche, the Supreme Court also plainly distinguished cases wherein “the government agency involved in each 
was found by the Court to have made determinations in the nature of adjudications affecting legal rights.”  Id. at 
451.   

67 Request for a Hearing at 26. 



16 
4832-8618-2094.v6 

accurately represented in both Ms. Henderson’s Request for a Hearing and supported by the 

case’s holding.68 

IV. Ms. Henderson Has Not Received Due Process.  

A. Contrary to the Staff’s Claim, Mere Notice and Opportunity to Respond Is 
Not Sufficient Due Process. 

Ms. Henderson’s Request for a Hearing previously described the procedural deficiencies 

in the enforcement process that she was provided.69  In response, the Answer argues that “to the 

extent Ms. Henderson has a right to due process regarding the NOV, all that is required is notice 

and an opportunity to be heard, and Ms. Henderson had both.”70   

However, as previously acknowledged by Commission's Secretary, “[t]he process due 

depends on the nature of the agency action,” and “[d]ue process hearing rights are not implicated 

by the issuance of a notice of violation . . . unless there has been a deprivation of a property or 

liberty interest.”71  The Supreme Court has since spoken on the topic, and has identified that a 

person has a liberty interest in the risk of future escalated enforcement actions, such as that 

expressly stated in Ms. Henderson’s NOV.  Thus, by the Secretary’s prior reasoning and 

Supreme Court precedent, the Commission should provide Ms. Henderson with a hearing (not 

just the existing enforcement proceeding). 

In support of its position, the Answer cites Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermill, 470 

U.S. 532 (1985), which involved hearings for the termination of public employees by an 

employer agency.  Loudermill could apply if the NRC were to fire one of its own employees.72  

 
68 Adams, 653 F.3d at 304-05, 308-09. 
69 Request for a Hearing at 35-37. 
70 Answer at 9.   
71 Letter from R. Meserve (Secretary) to R. Grant (Jan. 18, 2002) (ADAMS Accession No. ML020080088).  
72 Indeed, the Supreme Court in Loudermill simply applied the Mathews v. Eldridge balancing test and determined 

the government had an interest in “expeditious removal of unsatisfactory employees.” Loudermill, 470 U.S. at 
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But that is substantially different from Ms. Henderson’s case, where the agency has issued an 

escalated enforcement action to a non-licensee individual.  In addition, the pre-termination (i.e., 

notice and opportunity to be heard) standards of Loudermill were set so low because the 

Supreme Court envisioned that any deficiencies arising from inadequate due process would be 

remedied in a more substantial post-termination hearing.73  This makes Loudermill inapplicable 

to Ms. Henderson’s case—unless the Staff expects Ms. Henderson to receive the post-

deprivation hearing she is requesting. 

And in any event, Ms. Henderson’s predecisional enforcement conference (“PEC”) was 

not an adequate “opportunity to be heard.”  Under Supreme Court precedent, the opportunity to 

be heard must be given “at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.”74  As the D.C. 

Circuit has held, at a minimum, this includes a “meaningful opportunity to present [the] case 

before a neutral decisionmaker,”75 and under other Circuit Court precedent the opportunity to be 

heard must involve “fair play”76 and be held before an “impartial tribunal.”77   

 
543 (citing Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335 (1976)).  The Mathews v. Eldridge balancing test would be 
different for Ms. Henderson and would weigh in her favor, especially given the risk of erroneous deprivation 
associated with the Staff’s improper application of the Commission’s rules.  Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. at 
334-335 (“[O]ur prior decisions indicate that identification of the specific dictates of due process generally 
requires consideration of three distinct factors: First, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; 
second, the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, and the probable value, 
if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and finally, the Government’s interest, including the 
function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural 
requirement would entail.” (emphasis added)). 

73 See Loudermill, 470 U.S. at 545 (referring to the “nature of subsequent proceedings”) (quoting Boddie v. 
Connecticut, 401 U.S. 371, 378 (1971)); see also West v. Grand Cty., 967 F.2d 362, 367 (10th Cir. 1992)  (“The 
standards for a pretermination hearing are not stringent because of the expectation that a more formal post-
termination hearing will remedy any resulting deficiencies.”) (citing Loudermill, 470 U.S. at 545). 

74 Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545, 552 (1965). 
75 Propert v. District of Columbia, 948 F.2d 1327, 1333 (1991). 
76 Patrick v. Miller, 953 F.2d 1240, 1244 (10th Cir. 1992) (quoting Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976)) 

(“The essence of procedural due process is fair play; hence, the fundamental due process requirement ‘is the 
opportunity to be heard “at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.”’” and “[t]his requirement includes 
three elements: 1) an impartial tribunal; 2) notice of charges given a reasonable time before the hearing; and 3) a 
pretermination hearing except in emergency situations.”).   

77 Patrick, 953 F.2d at 1244 (quoting Miller v. City of Mission, 705 F.2d 368, 372 (10th Cir. 1983) (emphasis 
added)). 



18 
4832-8618-2094.v6 

For the reasons explained in Ms. Henderson’s Request for a Hearing,78 the PEC was not 

commensurate with a fair hearing from an impartial tribunal79 and did not provide 

Ms. Henderson with “procedures which have traditionally been associated with the judicial 

process.”80   

As Ms. Henderson’s Request pointed out,81 the Staff conducting the PEC consisted 

mainly of the same individuals who investigated and prepared the Apparent Violations.  In fact, 

the person who led the PEC is the same person who issued the Apparent Violation and who 

issued the NOV.  He is also the same person to whom Ms. Henderson was required to provide 

her answer to the NOV.  In addition, Ms. Henderson was given extremely limited evidence to 

confront in her PEC.  She was provided only her own interview transcript and a heavily redacted 

OI Report, but not the transcripts of the many individuals the Staff interviewed nor any other 

documents on which the OI Report and the Apparent Violation relied.  Ms. Henderson also was 

not given the opportunity to present witnesses who could testify on her behalf.  Ms. Henderson’s 

counsel had no right or opportunity to cross-examine her accusers, including the NRC Staff and 

the former employees whom she allegedly retaliated against.    

Indeed, the NRC Staff itself made clear during Ms. Henderson’s PEC that the PEC was 

“not to debate the facts with you but to receive and process information that is presented.”82   

 
78 Request for a Hearing at 35-37. 
79 Patrick v. Miller, 953 F.2d 1240, 1244 (10th Cir. 1992) (quoting Miller v. City of Mission, 705 F.2d 368, 372 

(10th Cir.1983)). 
80 Larche, 363 U.S. at 442.   
81 Request for a Hearing at 36; see also Propert v. D.C., 948 F.2d 1327, 1333–34 (D.C. Cir. 1991) (holding that a 

D.C. process for determining a vehicle is “junk” did not “provide a meaningful opportunity to be heard because, 
as D.C. concedes, communicating with the vehicle owner is a matter of the enforcing officer’s grace and not the 
owner’s entitlement. Nor is the requirement of an unbiased decisionmaker met. The officer to whom appeal may 
be made is the same officer who decides that the vehicle is ‘junk’ in the first place; as such, serious questions as 
to impartiality arise.”) (emphasis in original). 

82 Request for a Hearing at 36. 
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And the Commission’s own Enforcement Manual states that the PEC is to “obtain information 

from the party”83 and finalize the “NRC’s fact-finding process.”84  The PEC is part of the Staff’s 

investigation and no more.  This is not enough to satisfy the due process requirement that 

Ms. Henderson have a meaningful and fair “opportunity to be heard.”   

B. It Is Not Possible for Ms. Henderson to Have Received Due Process 
Regarding Her Newly Alleged Section 50.7 Violation.  

In addition, to the extent that the Staff’s Answer changes the Violation’s basis, Ms. 

Henderson has obviously been denied due process.  As the Staff states, Ms. Henderson is at a 

minimum entitled “to notice of the violation cited against her and some type of opportunity to 

respond.”85  According to the Answer, Ms. Henderson  

was informed of an open investigation regarding potential violations of 10 C.F.R. 
§ 50.7 and had the opportunity to tell a criminal investigator her story in a 
voluntary interview by responding to questions with her counsel present. Second, 
she was provided a notice of apparent violation, which contained a redacted copy 
of the Office of Investigations’ Report of Investigation (ROI). Additionally, she 
was offered an opportunity to participate in a predecisional enforcement 
conference86 

[and] 

the NRC Staff considered all information provided by Ms. Henderson and her 
counsel in dispositioning the NOV, to which she has now responded.87 

On the contrary, as described previously, both the NOAV and NOV gave Ms. Henderson notice 

that she violated the deliberate misconduct rule in 10 C.F.R. § 50.5 contributing to TVA’s 

violation of the discrimination rule in 10 C.F.R. § 50.7.  As a result, a Section 50.5 violation was 

what Ms. Henderson properly addressed in her PEC.  Ms. Henderson was never given notice that 

 
83 Enforcement Manual, Rev. 11, at 49. 
84 Id. 
85 Answer at 8. 
86 Answer at 8. 
87 Answer at 9. 
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she personally violated Section 50.7 and therefore has never had the opportunity to address such 

an allegation.  Accordingly, Ms. Henderson has been denied due process with respect to a 

Section 50.7 violation against her.  

V. A Discretionary Hearing is Proper, Given the Unique Circumstances of Ms. 
Henderson’s Violation. 

Finally, the Answer claims that a discretionary hearing would be improper in 

Ms. Henderson’s case.88  According to the Answer, the Commission should only grant a 

discretionary hearing “where substantial public health and safety issues have been identified,”89 

and this is not such a case.  The Staff also argues that “[because] individuals who were subjected 

to discrimination in violation of 10 C.F.R. § 50.7 but who were unsatisfied with the enforcement 

sanctions issued to the licensee by the NRC” were not granted hearings, the same logic applies to 

Ms. Henderson.90 

Ms. Henderson disagrees.  First, the Staff cannot have it both ways.  If there is no public 

health and safety issue such that Ms. Henderson’s hearing request should be denied, then the 

Staff should not also be allowed to argue in Mr. Shea’s related case that “the immediate 

effectiveness of [his] Order is [] premised on the public health and safety concerns of the 

underlying violation,”91 which is the same as Ms. Henderson’s, a violation of Section 50.5.  In 

addition, if (as the Answer claims) Ms. Henderson’s case did not involve “substantial public 

health and safety issues,” then the Staff should not have issued a Severity Level II violation to 

her.  Under the NRC Enforcement Manual, Severity Level II violations  

[a]re considered to be “escalated enforcement actions.”  This designation reflects 
the level of regulatory concern associated with the violation.  Severity Level I and 

 
88 Answer at 10-11. 
89 Answer at 10 (citing Yankee Atomic Elec. Co. (Yankee Nuclear Power Station), CLI-94-3, 39 NRC 95, 103 

(1994)). 
90 Answer at 11. 
91 Staff Answer to Shea at 13. 
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II violations warrant consideration of a civil penalty [and] [u]sually involve 
actions with actual or high potential to have serious consequences on public 
health and safety or the common defense and security.92   

If there are no public health and safety consequences in this case, then Ms. Henderson’s Severity 

Level II Violation should be withdrawn. 

That said, the Staff’s actions in this case will result in a public health and safety impact.  

Ms. Henderson filed a harassment complaint with her employer.  Her employer substantiated the 

complaint.  Yet, Ms. Henderson—and not her harasser—is now the person facing a Severity 

Level II violation.   

The potential chilling effect and the public health and safety impact of the Staff’s actions 

are obvious.  Bad actors will now be able to engage in bad behavior if they shield their actions 

under the guise of protected activity.  And the Staff can take action against the bad actor’s 

victims without bothering to consider the victims’ intent.  Indeed, as Ms. Henderson set forth in 

her Hearing Request, the Staff is now using NOVs to unilaterally and illegally change its 

enforcement powers.93  If the Commission denies a hearing in this case, then the Staff is free to 

issue any NOV, of any Severity Level (as long as it does not issue a fine or an industry ban) 

without even complying with its own regulations, content in the knowledge that it is immune 

from independent review.   

There is no better case for a discretionary hearing than this one. 

VI. Conclusion 

For the reasons stated above, Ms. Henderson requests that the Commission withdraw the 

NOV with prejudice (now that the Answer has abandoned any claim that Ms. Henderson has 

 
92 Enforcement Manual at 23. 
93 Request for a Hearing at 29-35; 38-42. 
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engaged in deliberate misconduct and changed the violation) or, at a minimum, grant Ms. 

Henderson’s earlier Request for a Hearing.  
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